1949

Howard F. Coray v. Southern Pacific Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Parties will be designated as in the trial court.

All italics are added.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

William Frank Lucus, an employee of defendant, 39 years of age at the time of his death, was fatally injured

while engaged in the performance of his duty as a signal maintainer on the main line track of respondent at a point approximately 3600 feet east of the east switch at Lemay, in Box Elder County, Utah, on the afternoon of the 24th day of May, 1944. Howard F. Coray, ancillary administrator, filed suit in the District Court of Weber County, Utah. This case has been twice tried. The first trial resulted in a directed verdict of no cause of action in favor of defendant. Thereafter, the case was appealed to this Court which affirmed the judgment of the lower court at, Utah, 185 P. (2d) 963. The Supreme Court of the United States granted certiorari and reversed the decision of this Court and remanded the case for a new trial, 69 S. Ct. 275 (Jan. 3, 1949). The case came on again for the second trial on the 25th day of May, 1949. The jury returned a verdict of no cause of action and judgment was entered accordingly (Tr. 145).

Defendant was charged with operating its eastbound freight train, First 582, consisting of 82 freight cars, a caboose and an engine, in violation of the Federal Safety Appliance Act, Sections 1, 8, 9, 51 and 53 of Title 45 U. S. C. A., in that it hauled and permitted to be hauled and used in interstate commerce PFE Car No. 29435 at a time when the threads on the triple valve were so badly worn that the triple union nut became disconnected from the triple valve, allowing the air in the brake line to escape to the atmosphere, thus causing the automatic air brakes on each car in the train to be set at once in emergency, bringing the moving train to an unexpected, undesired, abrupt and sudden stop; that seconds after

the stop the track car, upon which deceased was riding, violently collided with the rear end of the train, causing his death.

There was no particular conflict in the testimony. The evidence conclusively demonstrated that the defendant was guilty of the charged violation of the Safety Appliance Act, and it was stipulated that the train stopped because the triple union nut became disconnected from the triple valve on PFE Car 29435 due to the threads on the triple valve being worn (Tr. 41).

The Conductor, Darrel E. Jorgensen, was under orders to take the train onto the siding east of Newfoundland, and at the time of the accident he was making a run for that siding (Tr. 35-37).

There was no doubt about the stop being an undesired, quick action stop, and that it was unexpected by the train crew and all concerned in the operation of the train (Tr. 37, 38).

When Mr. Jorgensen first saw the track car upon which deceased was riding he thought it was about 500 feet from the rear end of his train (Tr. 38-40).

Alvin O. Lynch was riding on the track car with deceased at the time of the collision. He was being taken over the signal maintainer's territory by Lucas for the purpose of acquainting him with the signal maintainer's job at Lemay. Lynch testified that the track in the vicinity of the accident ran east and west and that Lucas was sitting on the north side of the track car, facing

north, and that he, Lynch, was sitting on the south side of the track car, facing south (Tr. 20). That immediately prior to the accident he, Lynch, was looking to the west watching a signal located at the east end of Lemay (Tr. 21).

Mr. Jorgensen testified that both Lucas and Lynch were looking to the west as the track car, on which they were riding, approached the rear of the stalled train (Tr. 45).

Lynch testified that the track car was not going at any excessive rate of speed and in his opinion was proceeding at between 10 and 25 miles per hour (Tr. 22).

All of the witnesses were of the opinion that the collision occurred within a very few seconds of the time the train came to a stop.

The only person qualifying as a dependent heir of deceased was Edith B. Lucas, wife of Frank Lucas. Deceased and Mrs. Lucas were married December 26, 1936 (Tr. 77). During all but the last year or two immediately preceding the death of Lucas they resided at Los Angeles, California. Both deceased and Mrs. Lucas were constantly employed during their married life. Deceased's earnings while in California ranged from \$40.00 to \$50.00 per week (Tr. 79). From his earnings deceased contributed between \$50.00 and \$75.00 per month to the support of Mrs. Lucas until 1941 when his contribution became less (Tr. 82). In 1941 his contribution fell to \$25.00 to \$30.00 per month.

In August, 1942, Lucus began an action for divorce (Tr. 84). Mrs. Lucus filed a counter action for separate maintenance (Tr. 85-86). In January, 1943, the matter was heard and Lucus was ordered to pay \$10.00 per week for the support of his wife (Tr. 87), starting with February 1, 1943 (Tr. 88). No further court proceedings were had, and Mrs. Lucus never saw nor heard from Lucus again during his lifetime (Tr. 88). Mrs. Lucus made a search of available sources of information concerning Lucus' whereabouts, but was unable to locate him. She remained at home and awaited his return, being sure that he would come back (Tr. 88-91).

The court, over plaintiff's objection, allowed a certified copy of Mrs. Lucus' cross-complaint for separate maintenance to be introduced in evidence as Exhibit "2". Said exhibit contained allegations that Lucus had not supported Mrs. Lucus for over a year; that Lucus squandered his money on liquor, and drank to excess, and had refused to return to live with Mrs. Lucus even though she begged him to return and give up his bad habits and disreputable friends.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The Court erred in giving Instruction No. 16.
2. The Court erred in allowing the introduction of Exhibit "3", and giving Instruction No. 10.
3. The Court erred in refusing plaintiff's requested Instruction No. 4.

4. The Court erred in giving Instruction No. 9.
5. The Court erred in refusing to give plaintiff's requested Instruction No. 11.
6. The Court erred in overruling plaintiff's motion for new trial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT PREJUDICIALLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT IF DECEASED WAS GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE HIS NEGLIGENCE WAS A COMPLETE BAR TO RECOVERY. (Assignment of Errors 1, 2, and 3).

POINT II.

THE COURT'S REFUSAL AND FAILURE TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 11 AND INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS IT DID IN INSTRUCTION NO. 9 CONSTITUTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR (Assignment of Errors 4 and 5).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT PREJUDICIALLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT IF DECEASED WAS GUILTY OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE HIS NEGLIGENCE WAS A COMPLETE BAR TO RECOVERY. (Assignment of Errors 1, 2, and 3).

Section 53, Title 45, U.S.C.A., provides in part as follows:

“* * * That no such employee who may be injured or killed shall be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence in any case where the violation by such common carrier of any statute enacted for the safety of employees contributed to the injury or death of such employee.”

Sections 1, 8, and 9 of Title 45 U.S.C.A., are all statutes enacted for the safety of employees and they are the sections of the Code which defendant is charged with violating and which the court instructed the jury the defendant had violated (Instruction No. 5, J.R. 210). Yet, contrary to the provisions of Section 53 and the fact that defendant had violated Sections 1, 8, and 9 of Title 45 as matter of law, His Honor instructed the jury in Instruction No. 16 as follows (J.R. 210):

“You are instructed that where an employee has two ways of performing an act in the course of his employment, the one safe and the other dangerous, he owes a positive duty to the employer to pursue the safe method, and any departure from the path of safety will prevent his recovery, if he is injured.”

The plain meaning of this instruction could only be that any negligence on the part of deceased would completely bar any recovery in this action. The court then went on to instruct the jury as follows:

“* * * Therefore, if you find that William Frank Lucas could have manipulated said motor car with equal ease from a position where he could have observed the freight train proceeding ahead of him, rather than a position with

his back towards the freight train, but that he did not do so but manipulated said motor car with his back to the freight train, and if you find that manipulating said motor car with his back to the freight train was not as safe as manipulating said motor car facing the freight train and that William Frank Lucus thus chose an unsafe position, when a safe position was equally available to him, then William Frank Lucus, the deceased, was guilty of negligence, and if such negligence, if you so find, was the sole proximate cause of deceased's injuries and death, then your verdict must be for the defendant 'no cause of action.' "

This instruction was not requested by defendant or plaintiff, but was given by the court on his own initiative.

Plaintiff is unable to discover any case or statutory law which would justify an instruction that an employee must at all times choose the safest method of performing his work or be charge with negligence as a matter of law.

In addition to the quoted instruction the court instructed the jury in Instruction No. 10 (J.R. 210) that the railroad company "has the legal right to make such rules and regulations for the conduct of its employees * * * and all employees while engaged in such service with a knowledge of such rules are expected to follow and obey them." This instruction was given for the purpose of aiding the jury in its use of defendant's Exhibit "3." Defendant's Exhibit "3" was allowed in the evidence over plaintiff's strenuous objection (Tr. 135).

The exhibit consisted of three rules taken from the railroad company's Rule Book. Rule 1112 dealt with track cars following moving trains, and stated (Tr. 136):

“When following moving trains, track cars must remain not less than 400 feet to the rear of same, * * *”

Rule 1119 is a cautionary rule concerning the speeds at which track cars may be operated, and states (Tr. 137):

“Track cars must not under any circumstances be operated at a speed in excess of 15 miles per hour, nor over road crossings at speed in excess of 4 miles per hour; and after dark or through stormy or foggy weather when visibility is poor, speed shall be reduced to the absolute minimum consistent with safety. A constant and vigilant look-out must be maintained and speed controlled approaching interlocked derails and switches or those operated by remote control, so that stop can be made to avoid accident in the event the route is unexpectedly changed. Before rounding sharp curves or through tunnels and snowsheds where view is obscured, flagmen must be sent ahead for protection, if it cannot otherwise be positively determined that way is clear.”

Rule 1120 was the third railroad rule which defendant was allowed to introduce into the evidence, and as far as material the rule provides as follows (Tr. 137):

“* * * and further that lineups obtained from train dispatcher cannot always be depended

upon by reason of conditions unexpectedly changing in the meantime.”

The introduction of the rules and Instruction No. 10 when taken together with Instruction No. 16, could have but one purpose, that being to lead the jury to believe that a disobedience of the railroad company's rules and regulations by Frank Lucus would be a “departure from the path of safety” and would be a bar to any recovery in this action.

Instruction No. 16, Instruction No. 10 and the introduction of Exhibit “3” will be discussed together for they are all errors which go to the basic proposition that the Court instructed the jury that negligence on the part of Frank Lucus was a bar to his administrator's action.

The authorities concerning these points will be discussed in the following order: the Supreme Court of the United States cases, other federal authorities, state decisions.

The United States Supreme Court in *Grand Trunk Western Railway Co. v. Lindsay*, 233 U.S. 42, 34 S. Ct. 581, 582, 58 L. Ed. 838, specifically disapproved a trial court's instruction containing somewhat similar language. In the *Lindsay* case the plaintiff went between two cars where a defective coupler had failed to perform its function. The trial court in instructing the jury gave the following instructions:

“ ‘You are further instructed that if you believe from the preponderance of the evidence

that the plaintiff gave a 'come-ahead' signal to the switchman or engineer, —one or both—and after that went between the cars and was injured, then you have a right to consider whether the giving of the 'come-ahead' signal by the plaintiff was the proximate cause of the injury as distinguished from the condition of the coupler, and if you find that, under the circumstances, the 'come-ahead' signal was the proximate cause of the injury, then your verdict must be for the defendant.

“ ‘You are also instructed that where there is a safe and a dangerous way of doing an act, and the servant uses a dangerous way and is injured thereby, he is charged with negligence on his part and may not recover.’ ”

At a later point in its instructions the court stated:

“ ‘If, under the employers' liability act, plaintiff's negligence, contributing with defendant's negligence to the production of the injury, does not defeat the cause of action, but only lessens the damages, and if the cause of action is established by showing that the injury resulted 'in whole or in part' from defendant's negligence, the statute would be nullified by calling plaintiff's act the proximate cause and then defeating him, when he could not be defeated by calling his act contributory negligence. For his act was the same act, by whatever name it be called. It is only when plaintiff's act is the sole cause—when defendant's act is no part of the causation—that defendant is free from liability under the act ’ ”

The evidence indicated that the jury might find that the plaintiff had given a come-ahead signal and after the come-ahead signal, walked between the cars where the defective coupler was located. There was other evidence to the effect that the come-ahead signal was from some lantern other than plaintiff's. The Supreme Court in passing on the court's instructions, stated:

“* * * But having regard to the state of the proof as to the defect in the coupling mechanism, its failure to automatically work by impact after several efforts to bring about that result, all of which preceded the act of the switchman in going between the cars, in the view most favorable to the railroad, the case was one of concurring negligence; that is, was one where the injury complained of was caused both by the failure of the railway company to comply with the safety appliance act and by the contributing negligence of the switchman in going between the cars. Under this condition of things, it is manifest that the charge of the court was greatly more favorable to the defendant company than was authorized by the statute for the following reasons: Although by the 3d section of the employers' liability act a recovery is not prevented in a case of contributory negligence, since the statute substitutes for it a system of comparative negligence, whereby the damages are to be diminished in the proportion which his negligence bears to the combined negligence of himself and the carrier,—in other words, the carrier is to be exonerated from a proportional part of the damages corresponding to the amount of negligence attributable to the employee (Norfolk & W. R. Co. v. Earnest, 229 U.S. 114, 122, 57 L. ed. 1096,

1101, 33 Sup. Ct. Rep. 654),—nevertheless, under the terms of a proviso to the section, contributory negligence on the part of the employee does not operate even to diminish the recovery where the injury has been occasioned in part by the failure of the carrier to comply with the exactions of an act of Congress enacted to promote the safety of employees. In that contingency the statute abolishes the defense of contributory negligence, not only as a bar to recovery, but for all purposes.”

The *Lindsay* case, of course, was authority for the later decision of the Supreme Court of the United States in *Spokane & Inland Empire Railroad Co. v. Campbell*, 241 U.S. 497, 36 S. Ct. 683, 60 L. Ed. 1125. The *Campbell* case concerned a railroad engineer who took his train out onto a single track line at a time when a regular train was approaching on the same track. After proceeding some little distance he observed the regular train coming toward him. He applied the brakes, they failed to work and a collision resulted. At the trial a jury specifically found that Campbell had disobeyed a direct order to him. They also rendered a general verdict on his behalf finding that the defective brakes were the proximate cause of the collision and injury to Campbell.

The railroad in the *Campbell* case argued that the disobedience of orders on the part of Campbell took him outside the class of employees for whose protection the Safety Appliance Act was passed and that because of his disobedience he departed from the course of his employment. The court, in affirming the general verdict for Campbell, set forth in the following language

the basic principles governing his conduct in relation to the railroad company's violation of the Safety Appliance Act:

“Upon the whole case, we have no difficulty in sustaining his right of action under the employers' liability act. That act (Sec. 1, 35 Stat. at L. 65, chap. 149, Comp. Stat. 1913, Sec. 8657) imposes a liability for injury to an employee 'resulting in whole or in part from the negligence of any of the officers, agents, or employees of such carrier, or by reason of any defect or insufficiency due to its negligence in its cars, engines, appliances, . . . or other equipment.' As was held in *San Antonio & A. Pass. R. Co. v. Wagner*, decided June 5, 1916, 241 U.S. 476, 60 L. ed. . . . , 36 Sup. Ct. Rep. 626, a violation of the safety appliance act is 'negligence' within the meaning of the liability act. And by the proviso to Sec. 3 of the latter act, no employee injured or killed shall be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence in any case where a violation of the safety appliance act 'contributed to the injury or death of such employee.' It is too plain for argument that under this legislation the violation of the safety appliance act need not be the sole efficient cause, in order that an action may lie. The circuit court of appeals (133 C.C.A. 370, 217 Fed. 524) held that the element of proximate cause is eliminated where concurring acts of the employer and employee contribute to the injury or death of the employee. We agree with this, except that we find it unnecessary to say the effect of the statute is wholly to eliminate the question of proximate cause. But where, as in this case, plaintiff's contributory negligence and defendant's violation of a provision of the

safety appliance act are concurring proximate causes, it is plain that the employers' liability act requires the former to be disregarded."

Justice McReynolds, following the same line of thought and authority in *Chicago Great Western R. Co. v. Schendel*, 267 U. S. 287, 45 S. Ct. 303, 304, 69 L. Ed. 614, reached a similar result dealing with the following facts quoted from his decision:

"While the freight train upon which Ring served as brakeman was upon the main line at Budd, Iowa, a drawbar pulled out of a car. Thereupon the crew chained this car to the one immediately ahead. The engine pulled the whole train onto the adjacent siding, which lies on a gentle grade, and stopped. The intention was to detach the damaged car and leave it there. The plan was to cut off the engine, bring it around back of the train, remove the rear portion, couple this to the forward portion and move on. Acting under the conductor's direction, Ring asked the head brakeman to tell the engineer to proceed, and then, without the knowledge of either of the others, he and the conductor went between the crippled car and the next one in order to disengage the connecting chain. While they were working there the engineer cut off the engine, the car ran slowly down the grade, and Ring, caught by the chain, suffered fatal injuries.

"A rule of the company provided that employees should advise the engineer when they were going between or under cars and must know that he understood their purpose before they put themselves in any dangerous position. Ring gave

no such warning, although familiar with the rule and with the grade upon which the train stood.

“Petitioner insists: (1) The facts do not bring the case within the Safety Appliance Act since the car had come to rest on the side track and had ceased to be ‘used,’ within the meaning of the statute. (2) The defective drawbar did not proximately contribute to the injury. (3) The violation of the rule by Ring constituted negligence subsequent to and independent of the question of a defective safety appliance and was a proximate cause of the injury.”

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