1949

# Howard F. Coray v. Southern Pacific Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WAS A DEFENSE AND PROPERLY SUBMITTED THE ISSUE OF SOLE PROXIMATE CAUSE.

At page 39 of appellant's brief, it is said:

"The contention of defendant that an issue of sole proximate cause is made is pure and

simple subterfuge and made for the purpose of breathing life into a defense which has been expressly eliminated not only by the Federal Congress but the Supreme Court of the United States in this very case."

Let us pause at the outset to ask, if there was no issue of sole proximate cause in the case, what was the issue for the jury? There was no dispute that the train stopped, because of a failure of the air line which caused an emergency stop. Appellant requested the court to submit to the jury the issue of sole proximate cause in his request No. 3. The issue there requested by appellant is that if the stopping of the train "*proximately caused in whole or in part*" the death of Lucas, then the verdict should be in favor of the plaintiff. One may not object on appeal to a ruling of the trial court that was invited by the appellant.

In his summary of the Argument appellant at page 6 of the brief states:

"The court prejudicially instructed the jury that if deceased was guilty of contributory negligence his negligence was a complete bar to recovery." (Assignment of Errors 1, 2, and 3).

This assertion is not supported by the record. In Instruction No. 16 the jury was told that if Lucas chose an unsafe position on the motor car when a safe position was equally available to him, he was negligent and if such negligence was the "sole proximate cause" of deceased's injuries, then the verdict should be for

defendant. That instruction further told the jury that the burden was on defendant to prove that the negligence of Lucus, if any, was the sole proximate cause of his death. To attempt to say this instruction told the jury that if deceased was guilty of contributory negligence, his contributory negligence was a complete bar to recovery is a bald misconstruction of the language used.

To show further how far appellant has departed from the facts of the record in this regard, it is necessary to refer to the last paragraph of Instruction No. 5 which we again quote:

“You are instructed that under the provisions of the Federal Safety Appliance Act if a violation of such act by a common carrier by rail in inter-state commerce contributes to the death of one of its employees then such employee cannot be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence.”

The court in Instruction No. 5 as requested in appellant's request No. 3 instructed the jury that defendant was guilty of a violation of the federal law and also that if a violation of such act contributes to the death of one of its employees then such employee “*cannot be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence.*” The instruction was the verbatim product of appellant's request designed and worded and intended to make it clear to the jury that contributory negligence was no defense. But in spite of the fact that the court told the jury as requested by appellant that contributory negligence was no defense, we find appellant's brief in the

summary erroneously telling this court that the trial court instructed the jury that contributory negligence “was a complete bar to recovery.” Even without the aid of the well-known rule that the instructions must be considered together, there is no basis in fact for the assertion of the summary.

The cases from the Supreme Court of the United States relied on by appellant do not hold there was any error in the instructions to the jury or in the admission of evidence in the Coray case.

*Grand Trunk Western Ry. Co. v. Lindsay*, 233 U.S. 42, 58 L. Ed. 838 (1914), the plaintiff below obtained a verdict in the trial court which was affirmed in the Seventh Circuit Court of appeals, and also in the Supreme Court. The Railway Company moved for a directed verdict which was denied and it appealed in both upper courts. The assignment of error considered by the Supreme Court was the refusal to direct the verdict for defendant below. It appeared that Lindsay was hurt while trying to couple two cars, one of which had a defective coupler. The trial court had told the jury that if Lindsay had done something carelessly which had proximately *contributed* to the accident, he could not recover. The Supreme Court quotes with approval from the decision of the Circuit Court that,

“It is only when plaintiff’s act is the sole cause — when defendant’s act is no part of the causation — that defendant is free from liability under the act.”

We submit that in the Coray case the jury was not instructed that contributory negligence was a defense. They were told directly to the contrary. In the Lindsay case the jury had found that the negligence of the railroad in having the defective car in use was one of the causes of the accident. The jury in the Coray case found that the negligence of the railroad in having the defective air line in the train was not one of the causes of the accident.

The jury in the Coray case was not told that contributory negligence was a complete or any defense.

*Spokane & Inland Empire Railroad Co. v. Campbell*, 241 U.S. 497, 36 S. Ct. 683, 60 L. Ed. 1125, the plaintiff below (Campbell) obtained a verdict which was affirmed on appeal. The Supreme Court held the jury must have found that the defective air brakes were "a proximate cause of the collision." The employee had left Coeur d'Alene westbound in violation of his orders. He collided with a train on the same track moving eastbound. There was evidence that he saw the approaching train, and if the air brakes had worked, he could have stopped his train in time to have avoided the collision. The court held that where "plaintiff's contributory negligence and the defendant's violation of a provision of the Safety Appliance Act are concurring proximate causes, it is plain that the Employer's Liability Act requires the former to be disregarded."

The rule of the Campbell case was apparently embodied in appellant's request No. 4, and was given in

Instruction No. 5 in which the jury was told that if a violation of the Safety Appliance Law contributes to the death, then the employee cannot be held guilty of contributory negligence. We are unable to see anything in the Campbell case which shows error in the instruction in the Coray case. The jury in the Campbell case held for the plaintiff, and the jury in the Coray case held for the defendant. The instructions of the trial court in the latter case do not conflict with the law of the Campbell case. The defendant's contention in the Campbell case to which the Supreme Court devoted its attention was that it was entitled to judgment notwithstanding the general verdict for Campbell. The jury found specially that the violation of his orders by Campbell when he left Coeur d'Alene was the proximate cause of the accident, but also returned a general verdict for the plaintiff. The Supreme Court said "the jury must have found that the defective air brakes were a proximate cause of the collision." The jury in the Coray case must have found that the failure of the air line on the train did *not* cause "*in whole or in part*" the death of Lucus. The rule of law announced in the Campbell case was correctly embodied in the instructions to the jury in the Coray case.

*Chicago Great Western Railroad Company v. Schendel*, 267 U.S. 287, 45 S. Ct. 303, 69 L. Ed. 614. The employee was killed while working on a car with a defective drawbar. He was between two cars to disengage a connecting chain used because of the defective drawbar. The engineer was not told he had gone between the cars.



The engine was disconnected and the car adjacent to the employee moved and caused his death. The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff. The defendant contended that the car had come to rest on the sidetrack and had ceased to be "used" as contemplated by the act. The court held the use of the defective car had not ended. No instruction to the jury is discussed. It is significant that the trial court permitted the defendant to prove the violation of the safety rule, which provided that employees should advise the engineer when they were going between or under cars. Appellant presumably relies upon the Schendel case to show that the contributory negligence of the employee did not prevent the case from going to the jury. Neither did contributory negligence prevent the Coray case from going to the jury. The jury was told the plaintiff could not be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence if a violation of the act contributes to the death. The jury found, by its general verdict for defendant, that the violation of the act did not contribute to the death.

*Scrimo v. Central R.R. of New Jersey, et al*, 138 F. (2d) 761. In the Scrimo case the court below admitted in evidence the safety rules of the company just as they were admitted in the Coray case. The deceased was engaged in a switching operation and was found dead under the wheels of a car on which there was a defective coupling device, warranting the inference that deceased stumbled when attempting to jiggle the lock pin of the defective coupling. The rule that contributory negligence is not a defense if violation of the Safety

Appliance Act contributes to the death stated in the Scrimo case is the rule which the court gave in its instructions in the Coray case.

*Palum v. Lehigh Valley R. Co.*, 165 F. (2d) 3. Here the plaintiff employee obtained a verdict which was affirmed on appeal. He was a fireman hit by a low bridge while going on top of the tender to measure the water. The court held that the question of whether the plaintiff's negligence was the sole cause of his injuries was a jury question. There was enough evidence of negligence of the defendant in using the fireman on a part of the line he had never been over before to support submission to the jury under the "recent decisions" of the Supreme Court of the United States. We find difficulty in seeing the relevancy of this Palum case to the case at bar. No question of the propriety of instructions was involved. If the trial court in the Coray case had granted a directed verdict for the defendant as in the prior trial, the Palum case is authority for the contention that it should go to the jury.

The Palum case contains the following discussion of the case of *Willis v. Penn. R. Co.*, 122 F.(2d) 248, (Certiorari denied 314, U.S. 684, 62 S. Ct. 187, 86 L. Ed. 547.).

"The defendant argues that the decision of this court in *Willis v. Pennsylvania R. Co.* should have controlled the trial judge in the case at bar and that it required the direction of a verdict for the defendant on the ground that plaintiff's conduct in leaving the cab in disregard

of the rule and failing to observe the low bridge in time to prevent being hit was the sole cause of his injury. But *Willis v. Pennsylvania R. Co.* may be distinguished on the ground that the only duty of the plaintiff there was to watch and if he had watched the injury to him would not have happened. Here a duty of the plaintiff was to see that there was sufficient water in the boiler and it was in attending to the performance of that very duty, albeit with negligence in one aspect thereof, that he sustained the injury. It is not certain that if he had notified the engineer that he was going to leave the cab in order to sound the tank that he would have been warned against the low bridge for it is entirely possible that the engineer would have expected him to look out for himself and to watch for such a danger as he encountered. What the plaintiff seems to have done was to have failed to be watchful enough for obstacles as well as to have forgotten to notify the engineer that he was going to leave the cab. We think the inadvertent neglect to observe the rule, while probably an act of contributory negligence to be considered by the jury in reduction of his damages, was not a bar to his claim."

We believe the *Palum* case shows there was a question of sole proximate cause in the *Coray* case, because it is undisputed from the record that *Lucus* like *Willis* had no duty other than to watch as he rode along the track on the motor car. He was going to deliver pay checks to employees east of *Lemay*.

In the *Willis* case (*supra*) three signal maintainers were working on a switch in the classification yard. There was a long standing custom, with which all em-

ployees were familiar, for switching to be continued while track repair work was being performed and for the repair gang to protect themselves by having one of their number act as lookout and give warning of approaching cars. Willis was acting as lookout when a moving car hit and killed him. The Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit held that Willis' neglect of his duty to act as watchman was the "sole cause" of his own death, and that even since the recent amendment of 45 U.S.C.A. Section 54 excluding assumption of risk as a defense, an employee cannot recover for injuries resulting solely from his own fault. The Willis case held the trial court properly directed the verdict for the defendant.

If the question of "sole cause" in the Willis case was one of law, it is obvious that the question of "sole cause" in the Coray case was one of fact in view of the decision of the Supreme Court of the United States. In fact, that is what the U.S. Court held as shown by the Quotation from the opinion in appellant's brief at page 25. The last sentence reads:

"The *jury could have found* that decedent's death *resulted* from any or all of the foregoing circumstances."

This means the Supreme Court held there was a jury question of causation. The jury in the case, under proper instructions, held the death resulted solely from the negligence of Lucas.

The Supreme Court in *Johanna Frese, admx. v. Chicago Burlington and Quincy Railroad Company*, 68 L. Ed. 131, 263 U.S. 1, held plaintiff could not recover for an injury due “primarily” to the failure of the deceased to act. Frese was the engineer on a Burlington train which collided with a Wabash train at a crossing of the tracks on the same level. A statute of Illinois made it the duty of the engineer to stop within 800 feet and positively ascertain that the way is clear. The Wabash train was approaching, (after both trains had stopped for the crossing) from the Burlington fireman’s side of the engine and the plaintiff alleged negligence of the fireman. The court pointed out the statute made it the personal duty of the engineer to ascertain that it was safe to resume the course.

“\* \* \* Moreover, the statute makes it the personal duty of the engineer positively to ascertain that the train can safely resume its course. Whatever may have been the practice, he could not escape this duty, and it would be a perversion of the Employer’s Liability Act (April 22, 1908, chap. 149, Sec. 3, 35 Stat. at L. 65, 66, Comp. Stat. Sec. 8659, 8 Fed. Stat. Anno. 2d ed. p. 1339) to hold that he could recover for an injury primarily due to his failure to act as required on the ground that possibly the injury might have been prevented if his subordinate had done more. See *Great Northern R. Co. v. Wiles*, 240 (4) U.S. 444, 448. 60 L. Ed. 732, 734, 36 Sup. Ct. Rep. 406.\* \* \*”

While that case did not involve a violation of the Safety Appliance Act, the legal principle holding it was

proper to direct a verdict below for the defendant on the ground the negligence of the engineer was the sole proximate cause of his death clearly proves it was proper for the court in the Coray case to submit the issue of causation to the jury.

In *Anna Lang, admx. v. New York Central Railroad Company*, 65 L. Ed. 729, 255 U.S. 455, the action was under the Safety Appliance Act. The defendant had a defective car loaded with iron on the siding at the station in Silver Creek, New York. The drawbar, the draft timber, and the coupling apparatus on the westerly end of this car were gone. This condition was known to the plaintiff's intestate prior to the accident. During a switching movement involving connecting three cars on the track where the crippled car stood, plaintiff's intestate was on one of these three cars for the purpose of setting the brakes and so placing them on this siding as not to come into contact with the crippled car. He went to the east end of the easterly car (on top) and his foot was resting on a small platform at the end of the car which is below the brake wheel. For some reason he did not stop the three cars moving on this track before coming into contact with the crippled car. The cars collided and owing to the absence of coupler attached on the crippled car, intestate's leg was caught between the ends of the two cars and he was so injured that he died. It was not the intention of any of the crew to disturb or couple or to move the crippled car. The defendant railroad contended and the Court held, that the proximate cause of the accident was the failure of the



deceased to stop the cars before they came into collision with the defective car, and that the absence of the coupler and drawbar was not a proximate cause or a concurring cause.

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